

A Service of

28W

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Overbeck, Ludger; Schmidt, Wolfgang M.

Working Paper Modeling default dependence with threshold models

Arbeitsberichte der Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft, No. 41

Provided in Cooperation with: Frankfurt School of Finance and Management

Suggested Citation: Overbeck, Ludger; Schmidt, Wolfgang M. (2003) : Modeling default dependence with threshold models, Arbeitsberichte der Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft, No. 41, Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft (HfB), Frankfurt a. M., https://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:101:1-2008071857

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/27895

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



No. 41

Modeling Default Dependence with Threshold Models

Ludger Overbeck, Wolfgang Schmidt

March 2003

ISSN 1436-9761

Authors: Dr. Ludger Overbeck Deutsche Bank AG Group Credit Risk Management Frankfurt Germany Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Schmidt Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft University of Applied Sciences in Banking and Finance Frankfurt/M. Germany schmidt@hfb.de

Publisher:Hochschule fuer Bankwirtschaft
Sonnemannstraße 9-11 • D-60314 Frankfurt/M. • Germany
Phone: ++49/69/154008-716 • Fax: ++49/69/154008-728

Modeling Default Dependence with Threshold Models

Ludger Overbeck^{*}, Wolfgang Schmidt[†]

March 18, 2003

Abstract

We investigate the problem of modeling defaults of dependent credits. In the framework of the class of structural default models we study threshold models where for each credit the underling ability-to-pay process is a transformation of a Wiener processes. We propose a model for dependent defaults based on correlated Wiener processes whose time scales are suitably transformed in order to calibrate the model to given marginal default distributions for each underlying credit. At the same time the model allows for a straightforward analytic calibration to dependency information in the form of joint default probabilities.

Key words: credit default, credit derivative, default dependence, structural form models, threshold model

JEL Classification: G12, G13, G24, C69

*Deutsche Bank AG, Group Credit Risk Management, 60262 Frankfurt

The opinion expressed in this paper are exclusively personal views of the authors and should not be cited as opinion and interpretation of Deutsche Bank AG.

[†]Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft, 60314 Frankfurt, e-mail: schmidt@hfb.de

Contents

1	Introduction	2				
2	Formulation of the problem					
3	The Hull and White approach revisited	5				
4	Time changed Wiener process	6				
	4.1 Calibrating the term structure of defaults	6				
	4.2 Calibrating joint default probabilities	8				
	4.3 Calibration Examples	9				
	4.4 Implementation	12				
5	Application example	14				
6	Conclusions	16				

1 Introduction

Given the explosive development of the credit derivatives market, the constraints of scarce capital resources, and the rules of regulatory authorities concerning credit risk sophisticated default modeling becomes an indispensable requirement in practice.

The increase in securitization of credit risk via CDO's and the growing popularity of multi-credit derivatives like basket default swaps not only calls for modeling default but, equally importantly, for modeling the dependencies between defaults of different obligors.

Default models can be divided into two mainstreams, structural models and reduced form models. In structural models, as pioneered by the work of MERTON [9], the default event is triggered by the value of the firm being below a certain trigger level. Structural models, also called threshold models, are appealing because of their simplicity and intuition linking the credit event to economic fundamentals of the firm. Structural models are relatively straightforward to extend to the situation of multiple credits with correlated defaults. However, the calibration to a given term structure of default probabilities is, depending on the model, often not possible or computationally involved.

The other major class of default models, the reduced form models, follow a completely different approach. Instead of modeling the event of default by some economic primitives, reduced form models rather focus on modeling the (infinitesimal) likelihood of default (cf. [1], [5], [4]). Reduced from models offer a lot of analogy to interest rate term structure models, in particular, they can be easily calibrated to a given term structure of default probabilities. For the multi-credit case, introducing enough default dependence as required in practice is quite involved in the framework of reduced form models ([11], [10]).

In practice, for multi-credit products dependencies between defaults are often modelled using copulas. In the simplest case the joint distribution of default times is generated from the marginal distributions applying a normal copula, see e.g. [8]. In this approach credit spreads are static until the time of the first default (cf. [11]).

In this paper we follow the structural approach to model (dependent) defaults. The model we propose is straightforward to calibrate to any given term structure of defaults. Also, based on a result by ZHOU [12], we derive a analytic expression for the probability of joint default, which then allows an efficient calibration of the model to given dependency information. Since we follow a structural approach the credit spreads admit a certain stochastic dynamic contrary to the above mentioned copula approach for dependent defaults.

Recently, HULL and WHITE [3] proposed a model for dependent defaults which achieves the same goals but is computationally much more involved.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we formulate the problem. The following Section 3 is devoted to a short review of the approach by HULL and WHITE. Our alternative model is introduced in Section 4 where we also provide some example of calibrations and outline how the model is implemented in practice. In Section 5 we given an application of the model to the pricing of basket default swaps and compare the results of our model with the results of the popular normal copula approach. The final Section 6 contains our main conclusions.

2 Formulation of the problem

Our goal is to develop a model for the random times τ_1, \ldots, τ_n of default of credits $i = 1, \ldots, n$. What is given, either derived from markets prices of traded defaultable instruments like default swaps or from historical data, is the distribution function F_i of the random variable τ_i :

$$\mathbf{P}(\tau_i < t) = F_i(t), \ t \ge 0, \ i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(1)

We assume that F_i is continuous, strictly increasing and $F_i(0) = 0$.

Information on the dependencies of the random default times involves, in the most general case, some conditions on the joint distribution of (τ_1, \ldots, τ_n) . As this in unrealistic in practice, we restrict ourselves to given pairwise joint default probabilities for a given fixed time horizon t_0 :

$$p_{ij} = \mathbf{P}(\tau_i < t_0, \tau_j < t_0).$$
 (2)

The event correlation ρ_{ij}^E (for time t_0) is defined as

$$\rho_{ij}^{E} = \frac{p_{ij} - F_i(t_0)F_j(t_0)}{\sqrt{F_i(t_0)(1 - F_i(t_0))F_j(t_0)(1 - F_j(t_0))}}.$$
(3)

So specifying the joint default probability is equivalent to specifying the event correlation. Observe that, in view of $0 \leq \mathbf{P}(\tau_i < t_0, \tau_j < t_0) \leq \min(F_i(t_0), F_j(t_0))$, the event correlation admits the following natural bounds

$$\frac{-F_i(t_0)F_j(t_0)}{\sqrt{F_i(t_0)(1-F_i(t_0))F_j(t_0)(1-F_j(t_0))}} \le \rho_{ij}^E \le \sqrt{\frac{u(1-v)}{v(1-u)}},\tag{4}$$

where $u = \min(F_i(t_0), F_j(t_0))$ and $v = \max(F_i(t_0), F_j(t_0))$.

Problem: Given distribution functions F_i and joint default probabilities p_{ij} (or, equivalently, event correlations) we are looking for stochastic processes (Y_t^i) called *ability-to-pay processes* and barriers $K_i(t)$ such that the default time τ_i for credit *i* can be modelled as the first hitting time of the barrier $K_i(t)$ by the process (Y_t^i) :

$$\tau_i = \inf\{t \ge 0 : Y_t^i \le K_i(t)\}.$$
 (5)

In other words, the hitting time τ_i defined by (5) satisfies equations (1) and (2).

Given the analytical tractability of the Wiener process and the fact that many other stochastic processes can be transformed into a Wiener process a reasonable approach for finding appropriate processes (Y_t^i) would be to start with correlated Wiener processes (W_t^i) and then to apply suitable transformations G^i :

$$Y_t^i = G^i(W_t^i, t).$$

As we shall see in the next section the recent approach by HULL and WHITE fits into this framework.

3 The Hull and White approach revisited

In their recent paper [3] HULL and WHITE propose a model for dependent defaults where the default time takes values in arbitrary fine discrete time grind $0 = t_0 < t_1 < t_2 \dots, \delta_k = t_k - t_{k-1}$. The default time for credit *i* is defined as

$$\tau_i = \inf\{t_k : W_{t_k}^i < K_i(t_k), \ k = 1, \dots\},\tag{6}$$

where (W_t^i) is a Wiener process. The default barriers $K_i(t_k)$ are calibrated successively to match the default distribution function F_i for the time points t_1, t_2, \ldots^1 :

$$K_{i}(t_{1}) = \sqrt{\delta_{1}} N^{(-1)}(F_{i}(t_{1}))$$

$$F_{i}(t_{k}) - F_{i}(t_{k-1}) = \int_{K_{i}(t_{k-1})}^{\infty} f_{i}(t_{k-1}, u) N\left(\frac{K_{i}(t_{k}) - u}{\sqrt{\delta_{k}}}\right) du.$$

where $f_i(t_k, x)$ is the density of $W_{t_k}^i$ given that $W_{t_j}^i > K_i(t_j)$ for all j < k:

$$f_i(t_1, x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\delta_1}} \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\delta_1}\right)$$

$$f_i(t_k, x) = \int_{K_i(t_{k-1})}^{\infty} f_i(t_{k-1}, u) \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\delta_k}} \exp\left(-\frac{(x-u)^2}{2\delta_k}\right) du.$$

Numerical procedures have to be employed to evaluate the integrals recursively.

In order to match given default dependencies as in equation (2) we have to calibrate the correlations ρ_{ij} of the Wiener processes W^i, W^j . To this end one has to simulate the default times according to (6), estimate the joint default probabilities from the samples, and calibrate over the results.

Summing up, the HULL & WHITE approach provides an elegant solution to problems (1), (2), at least on a discrete time grid. The major shortcoming of the model is, however, that its calibration is computationally heavily involved.

In the continuous time limit the HULL & WHITE model also allows for the following interpretation. Define

$$\tau_i = \inf\{t \ge 0 : W_t^i < K_i(t)\}.$$

If $K_i(t)$ is absolutely continuous,

$$K_i(t) = K_i(0) + \int_0^t \mu_s^i \mathrm{d}s,$$

 ^{1}N denotes the standard normal distribution function and $N^{(-1)}$ its inverse.

then the default time τ_i is the first hitting time of the constant barrier $K_i(0)$ for a Wiener process with drift:

$$Y_t^i = W_t^i - \int_0^t \mu_s^i \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\tau_i = \inf\{t \ge 0 : Y_t^i < K_i(0)\}$$

The drift can be interpreted as *default trend*: the higher μ_s^i the higher is the increase in the likelihood of default.

In general, time dependent default barriers in threshold models can be replaced by constant barriers at the price of some drift in the underlying firm value or ability-to-pay process.

4 Time changed Wiener process

In this section we propose an alternative solution to the problem of modelling dependent defaults which is intuitive and at the same time straightforward to calibrate to both conditions (1) and (2). The idea is to utilize Wiener processes with suitably transformed time scales. As we shall see below this is in principle equivalent to using Wiener processes with time varying but deterministic volatilities.

Given Wiener processes (W_t^i) and strictly increasing time transformations (T_t^i) :

$$T^{i}|[0,\infty) \to [0,\infty), \ T_{0}^{i}=0,$$

we define²

$$Y_t^i = W_{T_s^i}^i \tag{7}$$

$$\tau_i = \inf\{s \ge 0 : Y_s^i < K_i\}.$$
(8)

4.1 Calibrating the term structure of defaults

The following result shows that it is straightforward to choose the time transformation appropriately to match a given term structure of default probabilities (1).

²Due to the space-time scaling properties of the Wiener process without restricting the generality we could set the default barrier to be $K_i = -1$. But as we shall see later it is useful to keep this degree of freedom.

Proposition 1 Let F_i be a continuous distribution function, strictly increasing on $[0, \infty)$ with $F_i(0) = 0$. If the time transformation (T_t^i) is given by

$$T_t^i = \left[\frac{K_i}{N^{(-1)}\left(\frac{F_i(t)}{2}\right)}\right]^2, \ t \ge 0$$
(9)

then the default time τ_i defined by (8) admits the distribution function F_i , *i.e.*, condition (1) is satisfied.

Proof. The distribution of the hitting time of a Brownian motion W is well-known to be (cf. [6])

$$\mathbf{P}(\min_{s \le t} W_s < K_i) = 2 \operatorname{N}(K_i/\sqrt{t}).$$

This yields for τ_i defined by (8)

$$\mathbf{P}(\tau_i < t) = \mathbf{P}(\min_{s \le t} W_{T_s}^i < K_i)$$
$$= \mathbf{P}(\min_{s \le T_t^i} W_s^i < K_i)$$
$$= 2 \operatorname{N}\left(K_i / \sqrt{T_t^i}\right)$$

and the assertion follows.

The time transformation (T_t^i) admits an obvious interpretation: the higher the increase of the function T_t^i , the higher is the speed at which the ability-to-pay process $Y_t^i = W_{T_t^i}^i$ passes along the Wiener path thereby increasing the likelihood of default.

If the distribution function F_i admits a density $F'_i = f_i$, then the time transformation (T^i_t) is absolutely continuous,

$$T_t^i = \int_0^t (\sigma_s^i)^2 \mathrm{d}s,\tag{10}$$

and by a well-know representation result the time transformed Wiener process allows for a representation as stochastic integral with volatility σ_s^i :

$$W^i_{T^i_t} = \int_0^t \sigma^i_s \mathrm{d}\tilde{W}^i_s,\tag{11}$$

with some new Wiener process \tilde{W}^i . The relationship between the volatility σ_s^i and the distribution of τ_i is

$$\sigma_s^i = \sqrt{-\left[\frac{K_i}{\mathcal{N}^{(-1)}\left(\frac{F_i(s)}{2}\right)}\right]^3 \frac{f_i(s)}{K_i \varphi\left(\mathcal{N}^{(-1)}\left(\frac{F_i(s)}{2}\right)\right)}},$$

 \diamond

where φ is the density of the standard normal distribution.

The volatility σ_s^i can be interpreted as *default speed*. The higher the default speed, the higher the volatility of the ability-to-pay process and the higher the likelihood of crossing the default threshold K_i .

4.2 Calibrating joint default probabilities

In this section we show that our time changed Wiener process model can also be easily calibrated to a set of pairwise joint default probabilities for a given fixed time horizon. Based on a result by ZHOU [12] we derive an analytic expression for the joint default probability as a function of the correlation of the underlying Wiener processes which then allows for a calibration of these correlations.

Proposition 2 Let (W_t^1) and (W_t^2) be Wiener processes with correlation ρ . For time changes (T_t^i) , i = 1, 2, and default times τ_i , i = 1, 2, defined by (8) we have the following expression for the joint survival probability³

$$\mathbf{P}(\tau_{1} > t_{0}, \tau_{2} > t_{0}) =$$

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{2}{\alpha T} \mathbf{e}^{\frac{-r_{0}^{2}}{2T}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sin\left(\frac{n\pi\theta_{0}}{\alpha}\right) \int_{\theta=0}^{\alpha} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} \sin\left(\frac{n\pi\theta}{\alpha}\right) r \mathbf{e}^{\frac{-r^{2}}{2T}} I_{\frac{n\pi}{\alpha}}\left(\frac{rr_{0}}{T}\right) \\
\left(-1 + 2N\left(\frac{r\sin\theta}{\sqrt{\Delta}}\right)\right) d\theta dr, \quad \text{if } \Delta > 0, \\
\frac{2r_{0}}{\sqrt{2\pi T}} \mathbf{e}^{\frac{-r_{0}^{2}}{4T}} \sum_{n=1,3,5,\dots,\frac{1}{n}} \sin\left(\frac{n\pi\theta_{0}}{\alpha}\right) \\
\left[I_{\frac{1}{2}(\frac{n\pi}{\alpha}+1)}\left(\frac{r_{0}^{2}}{4T}\right) + I_{\frac{1}{2}(\frac{n\pi}{\alpha}-1)}\left(\frac{r_{0}^{2}}{4T}\right)\right] \quad \text{if } \Delta = 0,
\end{cases}$$

$$(12)$$

$$\mathbf{P}(\tau_1 > t, \tau_2 > t) = 1 - \mathbf{P}(\tau_1 \le t) - \mathbf{P}(\tau_2 \le t) + \mathbf{P}(\tau_1 \le t, \tau_2 \le t).$$

 $^{^{3}}$ The joint survival probability and the joint default probability are linked by

where

$$T = \min(T_{t_0}^1, T_{t_0}^2)$$

$$\Delta = \max(T_{t_0}^1, T_{t_0}^2) - \min(T_{t_0}^1, T_{t_0}^2)$$

$$\theta_0 = \begin{cases} \tan^{(-1)}\left(\frac{K_2\sqrt{1-\rho^2}}{K_1-\rho K_2}\right) & \text{if } \left(\frac{K_2\sqrt{1-\rho^2}}{K_1-\rho K_2}\right) > 0 \\ \pi + \tan^{(-1)}\left(\frac{K_2\sqrt{1-\rho^2}}{K_1-\rho K_2}\right) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$r_0 = \frac{-K_2}{\sin \theta_0}$$

$$\alpha = \begin{cases} \tan^{(-1)}\left(\frac{-\sqrt{1-\rho^2}}{\rho}\right) & \rho < 0 \\ \pi + \tan^{(-1)}\left(\frac{-\sqrt{1-\rho^2}}{\rho}\right) & \rho > 0 \end{cases}$$

and I_k denotes the modified Bessel function with order k.

Proof. Assume $T_{t_0}^1 \leq T_{t_0}^2$. Using the Markov property of the Wiener process (W_t^1, W_t^2) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}(\tau_1 > t_0, \tau_2 > t_0) \\ &= \mathbf{P}(W_s^1 > K_1, s \le T_{t_0}^1, W_u^2 > K_2, u \le T_{t_0}^2) \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left(\mathbf{1}_{\{W_s^1 > K_1, W_s^2 > K_2, s \le T\}} \mathbf{P}(W_u^2 > K_2, u \in [T, T + \Delta] | W_T^2)\right) \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left(\mathbf{1}_{\{W_s^1 > K_1, W_s^2 > K_2, s \le T\}} \left(1 - 2\operatorname{N}\left(\frac{K_2 - W_T^2}{\sqrt{\Delta}}\right)\right)\right) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{-K_1} \int_{-\infty}^{-K_2} f(x_1, x_2, T, \rho) \left(1 - 2\operatorname{N}\left(\frac{K_2 + x_2}{\sqrt{\Delta}}\right)\right) dx_1 dx_2, \end{aligned}$$

where $f(x_1, x_2, T, \rho)$ is the density of $(-W_T^1, -W_T^2)$ given that the barriers $-K_1, -K_2$, respectively, have not been hit by time T. This density is explicitly calculated in the paper [12] by ZHOU. Using his result and transforming the integration variables appropriately yields the assertion.

The case $\Delta = 0$, i.e., $T_{t_0}^1 = T_{t_0}^2$ follows directly from the result by ZHOU, [12].

4.3 Calibration Examples

The calibration equation (9) allows some degree of freedom in determining the default threshold K_i . It seems to be natural to choose K_i such that the time change T_t^i is, in some sense, close to the original time scale, more precisely, for a fixed final time horizon $t_0 > 0$ we require

$$T_{t_0}^i = t_0. (13)$$

This implies

$$K_i = N^{(-1)} \left(\frac{F_i(t_0)}{2}\right) \sqrt{t_0}.$$
 (14)

The following graph shows calibrated time transformations for default times with $F_i(t) = 1 - \exp(-\lambda_i t)$ and default intensities (hazard rates) $\lambda_1 = 1\%$, $\lambda_2 = 2\%$, $\lambda_3 = 3\%$. We applied the additional condition (13) with $t_0 = 5$ and obtained the threshold barriers $K_1 = -4,406$, $K_2 = -3,731$, $K_3 = -3,306$.



Transformations of time

The sharp increase of the time changes near time zero is due to the fact that for threshold models with continuous ability-to-pay processes the likelihood of default over short time periods near zero is basically vanishing. However, in the example above we have calibrated our model to a flat default rate λ_i per time unit. Due to the time change, the ability-to-pay process, although starting at zero, gets "enough" randomness for very short times to allow for the given non-vanishing default rate.

Remark: An alternative way to overcome the above mentioned problem for threshold models with continuous ability-to-pay processes Y would be to

allow for a random initial value Y_0 with some distribution \mathbf{Q} . Conditioning on the values of Y_0 and integrating w.r.t. \mathbf{Q} it is straightforward to extend our approach to this situation. We do not follow up with this idea here in more detail.

In the following we present some numerical examples on the calibration of the model to given dependency information (2). We express the joint default probability via its event correlation (3). To simplify the exposition we assume again that the default curves correspond to a flat default rate λ_i

$$F_i(t) = 1 - \exp(-\lambda_i t).$$

Our final time horizon is again $t_0 = 5$ and the event correlation we calibrate to also refers to time t_0 , i.e., we calibrate to given pairwise default probabilities for time t_0 . The calibration results are the correlations ρ between the underlying Wiener processes.

In the table below the first column contains the event correlations ρ^E ranging from 0% to 90%. The columns to the right show the calibrated correlations ρ for the given pair (τ_1, τ_2) of underlyings with default rates (λ_1, λ_2) . Missing results indicate that the event correlation in the left most column is not valid for that combination (cf. (4)).

$ ho^E/(\lambda_1,\lambda_2)$	(1%, 1%)	(1%, 2%)	(1%, 3%)
$0,\!00\%$	0,00%	$0,\!00\%$	0,00%
$5,\!00\%$	18,51%	$16,\!27\%$	$15,\!28\%$
$10,\!00\%$	$31,\!59\%$	$28,\!82\%$	$27,\!68\%$
$15,\!00\%$	41,96%	$39{,}23\%$	38,29%
$20,\!00\%$	$50,\!60\%$	48,16%	$47,\!63\%$
$25,\!00\%$	$57,\!98\%$	55,99%	55,99%
$30,\!00\%$	64,40%	$62,\!92\%$	$63,\!55\%$
$35{,}00\%$	$70,\!03\%$	$69,\!11\%$	70,46%
$40,\!00\%$	$74,\!98\%$	$74,\!66\%$	76,82%
$45,\!00\%$	$79,\!35\%$	$79{,}64\%$	82,77%
$50,\!00\%$	$83,\!21\%$	$84,\!12\%$	88,49%
$55,\!00\%$	$86,\!58\%$	$88,\!15\%$	
$60,\!00\%$	$89{,}53\%$	$91,\!79\%$	
$65{,}00\%$	$92,\!07\%$		
$70,\!00\%$	$94,\!23\%$		
$75,\!00\%$	96,02%		
$80,\!00\%$	97,47%		
$85,\!00\%$	98,59%		
$90,\!00\%$	$99,\!37\%$		

$\rho^E/(\lambda_1,\lambda_2)$	(2%, 2%)	(2%, 3%)	(3%, 3%)
0,00%	$0,\!00\%$	0,00%	$0,\!00\%$
5,00%	$13,\!98\%$	12,97%	$11,\!94\%$
10,00%	$25,\!52\%$	24,07%	$22,\!48\%$
15,00%	$35,\!43\%$	$33,\!85\%$	$31,\!94\%$
20,00%	$44,\!13\%$	42,59%	40,52%
25,00%	$51,\!87\%$	$50,\!47\%$	$48,\!32\%$
30,00%	58,78%	$57,\!59\%$	$55,\!44\%$
35,00%	64,99%	64,05%	$61,\!92\%$
40,00%	70,56%	69,91%	$67,\!82\%$
45,00%	$75,\!55\%$	$75,\!20\%$	$73,\!16\%$
50,00%	80,01%	79,96%	$77,\!97\%$
55,00%	$83,\!96\%$	84,22%	$82,\!27\%$
60,00%	$87,\!43\%$	88,00%	$86,\!07\%$
65,00%	$90,\!45\%$	$91,\!33\%$	$89,\!40\%$
70,00%	$93,\!03\%$	$94,\!23\%$	$92,\!25\%$
75,00%	$95,\!19\%$	96,74%	$94,\!65\%$
80,00%	96,94%		96,59%
85,00%	$98,\!29\%$		$98,\!09\%$
90,00%	99,24%		99,15%

Observe that in the examples above we only calibrate to non-negative event correlations since in practice negative default correlations are rather artificial.

4.4 Implementation

To implement our model for practical applications a Monte Carlo simulation seems to be appropriate for most applications. We first choose a final time horizon t_0 , naturally the maturity of the transaction to evaluate, and determine the corresponding threshold level K_i according to (14). The time changes for the underling Wiener processes are calibrated as outlined above. The correlation matrix between the driving Wiener processes is derived from given joint default probabilities or event correlations.

Now choosing a time discretization $0 = s_0 < s_1 < \cdots < s_m = t_0$ for our time interval $[0, t_0]$ we simulate the random variables $W^i_{T^i_{s_j}}, i = 1, \ldots, n, j = 1, \ldots, m$.

The first time s_j with $W^i_{T^i_{s_j}} < K_i$ we set $\tau_i = s_j$. However, since the first

hitting time⁴

$$\min\{s_j : W^i_{T^i_{s_i}} < K_i\}$$

of the discrete path clearly overestimates the true default time τ_i we apply in addition a Brownian bridge technique to capture the probability of possible defaults in between the grid points s_j . For simulation results $\alpha = W_{T_{s_j}^i}^i > K_i$ and $\beta = W_{T_{s_{j+1}}^i}^i > K_i$ the process $W_u^i, u \in [T_{s_j}^i, T_{s_{j+1}}^i]$ follows a so-called Brownian bridge with starting point α and end point β . The probability of crossing the boundary K_i during the time interval $[T_{s_j}^i, T_{s_{j+1}}^i]$ is known to be (cf. [6])

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}(\min_{u \in [s_j, s_{j+1}]} W^i_{T^i_u} < K_i) &= \mathbf{P}(\min_{u \in [T^i_{s_j}, T^i_{s_{j+1}}]} W^i_u < K_i) \\ &= \exp\left(\frac{-2(\beta - K_i)(\alpha - K_i)}{\Delta}\right), \end{aligned}$$

with $\Delta = T_{s_{j+1}}^i - T_{s_j}^i$. For each time interval $[s_j, s_{j+1}]$ given that the threshold K_i has not been crossed before and that $W_{T_{s_{j+1}}^i}^i > K_i$ we draw an additional uniform random variable U_j^i and set

$$\tau_i = (s_j + s_{j+1})/2 \quad \text{if} \quad U_j^i < \exp\left(\frac{-2(\beta - K_i)(\alpha - K_i)}{\Delta}\right)$$

and proceed with our simulations if $U_j^i \ge \exp\left(\frac{-2(\beta - K_i)(\alpha - K_i)}{\Delta}\right)$.

It turns out that this technique allows the simulation results to capture the true theoretical marginal default distribution $F_i(t)$ quite accurately. However, in case of non-vanishing correlations between the underling Wiener processes we may lose some degree of "correlation" in our implementation since, theoretically, the uniforms U^i would have to be somehow dependent.

As a result of our simulation we end up with simulated default times τ_1, \ldots, τ_n which are the primary input to a Monte Carlo evaluation of any multi-credit product.

⁴As usual we follow the convention $\min(\emptyset) = \infty$.

5 Application example

In this section we apply our model to the pricing of a basket credit default swap.

Credit default swaps are the dominating plain-vanilla credit derivative product which serve also as a building block for many other credit products. A credit default swap offers protection against default of a certain underlying entity over a specified time horizon. A premium (spread) s is paid on a regular basis (e.g., on a quarterly, act/360 basis) and on a certain notional amount N as an insurance fee against the losses from default of a risky position of notional N, e.g., a bond. The payment of the premium s stops at maturity or at default of the underlying credit, whichever comes first. At the time of default before maturity of the trade the protection buyer receives the payment N(1 - R), where R is the recovery rate of the underlying credit risky instrument.

A basket credit default swap is an insurance contract that offers protection against the event of the kth default on a basket of n $(n \ge k)$ underlying names. It is quite similar to a plain credit default swap but the credit event to insure against is the event of the kth default. Again a premium (spread) s is paid as insurance fee until maturity or the event of the kth default in return for a compensation for the loss. We denote by s^{kth} the fair spread in a kth-to-default swap, i.e., this is the spread making the value of this swap today equal to 0.

Most popular are first-to-default swaps, i.e., k = 1, as they offer highly attractive spreads to a credit investor (protection seller).

We apply our model to a basket with n = 5 names trading in the credit default swap market with fair CDS spreads⁵ $s_1 = 0,80\%, s_2 = 0,90\%, s_3 =$ $1,00\%, s_4 = 1,10\%, s_5 = 1,20\%$ for all maturities. We suppose a recovery rate of R = 15% for all credits. The riskless interest rate curve is assumed to be flat at 5,00%. As common in practice (see e.g. [7]) we extract from the given CDS spreads and the recovery assumption the (risk-neutral) distribution functions F_i of the default time τ_i , $i = 1, \ldots, 5$.

For various levels of correlations we price 5 years maturity kth-to-default basket default swaps for k = 1, ..., 5 and determine their fair spreads. In the model we use a Monte Carlo simulation on a monthly time grid with 10000 simulations as described in section 4.4. The results are compared to alternative valuations of the same transactions using a Monte Carlo implementation of a normal copula model as described in detail e.g. in [8],[11]. In current practice the normal copula model is widely used to value basket credit deriva-

 $^{^{5}}$ On a quarterly act/360 basis.

tives. The correlations in the normal copula model are calibrated to produce the same pairwise default probabilities for the time horizon $t_0 = 5$ as in our time change model. Here is an example how a fixed correlation of $\rho = 30\%$ between our underling Wiener processes translates into a (asset) correlation matrix for the normal copula model:

(100,00%	32,30%	31,99%	31,73%	31,52%)
	32,30%	100,00%	32,06%	31,80%	31,58%
	31,99%	32,06%	100,00%	31,86%	31,63%
	31,73%	31,80%	31,86%	100,00%	31,68%
	31,52%	31,58%	31,63%	31,68%	100,00%

The two models produced the following numerical results for the basket default swap valuations:

fair basket default swap spreads in the time change model

ρ	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%
s^{first}	4,791%	4,563%	4,296%	$3,\!953\%$	$3,\!620\%$	3,252%	2,845%
s^{2nd}	$0,\!625\%$	0,799%	$0,\!941\%$	$1,\!055\%$	$1,\!131\%$	$1,\!201\%$	$1,\!259\%$
$s^{ m 3rd}$	$0,\!058\%$	$0,\!130\%$	$0,\!201\%$	$0,\!296\%$	$0,\!398\%$	0,523%	$0,\!635\%$
$s^{ m 4th}$	$0,\!003\%$	$0,\!015\%$	$0,\!040\%$	$0,\!076\%$	$0,\!126\%$	0,202%	$0,\!306\%$
$s^{5\mathrm{th}}$	0,000%	0,003%	0,006%	$0,\!013\%$	0,030%	$0,\!057\%$	$0,\!118\%$

fair basket default swap spreads in the normal copula model

ρ	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%
$s^{ m first}$	4,704%	4,442%	$4,\!137\%$	$3{,}806\%$	$3,\!486\%$	$3,\!147\%$	2,764%
$s^{2\mathrm{nd}}$	$0,\!670\%$	$0,\!803\%$	$0,\!941\%$	1,062%	$1,\!151\%$	1,215%	$1,\!257\%$
$s^{3\mathrm{rd}}$	$0,\!074\%$	$0,\!137\%$	$0,\!219\%$	$0,\!320\%$	$0,\!413\%$	0,523%	$0,\!640\%$
$s^{4\mathrm{th}}$	$0,\!005\%$	0,016%	$0,\!040\%$	$0,\!084\%$	$0,\!143\%$	0,222%	$0,\!334\%$
$s^{5\mathrm{th}}$	0,001%	0,003%	0,008%	0,016%	0,041%	$0,\!075\%$	$0,\!135\%$

For the first-to-default basket compared to the normal copula model the time change model seems to produce slightly higher spreads. For the other cases the results are quite close. This is supported by repeated simulations with different seeds for the random number generator. The seed variance of fair the first-to-default spread is less than 0.10% and much smaller for the other spreads. For the normal copula model we used a variance reduction technique based on stratified sampling whereas for the time change model we applied an in-sample orthogonalization of the increments of the Wiener processes.

In [2] FINGER compared the results of the pricing of multi-credit products for various stochastic default rate models. The models were calibrated against each other on a single period time horizon but then applied to a multi-period valuation problem. One of the models in his study was the normal copula model. The comparison results by FINGER show much higher discrepancies between the different models. To a certain extend this can be attributed to the fact that the models were not calibrated for the final time horizon. This might explain why our comparison yields much closer results.

6 Conclusions

We investigated models for dependent defaults based upon so-called structural models where default is triggered by an underlying ability-to-pay process reaching a certain threshold barrier. We have introduced a model which is based on correlated and suitably time changed Wiener processes. This model is flexible and easy to calibrate to any given term structure of default probabilities as backed out from market information, as, for example, CDS spreads or bond prices. An analytic expression for pairwise joint default probabilities is derived which allows to calibrate the model also efficiently to given dependence information.

Potential applications of the model are the pricing of multi-credit derivative products or the valuation of counter-party default risks.

The model has been applied to the problem of pricing a basket credit default swap. A comparison of the results of our model to the widespread used normal copula model, both calibrated to the same dependency information, shows that both models give quite similar results with our model producing slightly higher fair first-to-default premiums.

References

- [1] DUFFIE, D. AND SINGLETON, K.: Modeling term structures of defaultable bonds, *Review of Financial Studies*, **12**, 687–720, 1999 **3**
- [2] FINGER, C.F.: A Comparison of Stochastic Default Rate Models, *Risk-Metrics Journal*, 1, 49-74, 2000 15
- [3] HULL, J., WHITE, A.: Valuing Credit Default Swaps II: Modeling Default Correlations, *The Journal of Derivatives*, 12–21, Spring 2001 3, 5
- [4] JARROW, R., LANDO, D. AND TURNBULL, S.: A Markov model for the term structure of credit risk spreads, *Review of Financial Studies*, 10, 481–523, 1997

- [5] JARROW, R. AND TURNBULL, S.: Pricing derivatives on financial securities subject to credit risk, *Journal of Finance*, **50**, 53–85, 1995 **3**
- [6] KARATZAS, I. AND SHREVE, S. E.: Brownian Motion and Stochastic Calculus, Springer Verlag Berlin, 1988 7, 13
- [7] KHUONG-HUU, P.: The price of credit, *RISK*, 68–71, December 1999
 14
- [8] LI, D.X.: On Default Correlation: A Copula Function Approach, The Journal of Fixed Income, 43–54, March 2000 3, 14
- [9] R. MERTON: On The Pricing of Corporate Debt: The Risk Structure of Interest Rates, The Journal of Finance, **29**, 449–470, 1974 **2**
- [10] SCHÖNBUCHER, P. J., SCHUBERT, D.: Copula-Dependent Default Risk in Intensity Models, Working Paper, Bonn University, 2001 3
- [11] WARD, I. AND SCHMIDT, W.: Pricing Default Baskets, *RISK*, 15(1),111–114, 2002 3, 14
- [12] ZHOU, C.: Default Correlation: An Analytic Result, Federal Reserve Board, Washington, D.C., Finance and Economics Division, Series No. 1997-27 3, 8, 9

Arbeitsberichte der Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft

Bisher sind erschienen:

Nr.	Autor/Titel	Jahr
1	Moormann, Jürgen Lean Reporting und Führungsinformationssysteme bei deutschen Finanzdienstleistern	1995
2	Cremers, Heinz; Schwarz, Willi Interpolation of Discount Factors	1996
3	Jahresbericht 1996	1997
4	Ecker, Thomas; Moormann, Jürgen Die Bank als Betreiberin einer elektronischen Shopping-Mall	1997
5	Jahresbericht 1997	1998
6	Heidorn, Thomas; Schmidt, Wolfgang LIBOR in Arrears	1998
7	Moormann, Jürgen Stand und Perspektiven der Informationsverarbeitung in Banken	1998
8	Heidorn, Thomas; Hund, Jürgen Die Umstellung auf die Stückaktie für deutsche Aktiengesellschaften	1998
9	Löchel, Horst Die Geldpolitik im Währungsraum des Euro	1998
10	Löchel, Horst The EMU and the Theory of Optimum Currency Areas	1998
11	Moormann, Jürgen Terminologie und Glossar der Bankinformatik	1999
12	Heidorn, Thomas Kreditrisiko (CreditMetrics)	1999
13	Heidorn, Thomas Kreditderivate	1999
14	Jochum, Eduard Hoshin Kanri / Management by Policy (MbP)	1999
15	Deister, Daniel; Ehrlicher, Sven; Heidorn, Thomas CatBonds	1999
16	Chevalier, Pierre; Heidorn, Thomas; Rütze, Merle Gründung einer deutschen Strombörse für Elektrizitätsderivate	1999
17	Cremers, Heinz Value at Risk-Konzepte für Marktrisiken	1999
18	Cremers, Heinz Optionspreisbestimmung	1999
19	Thiele Dirk; Cremers, Heinz; Robé Sophie Beta als Risikomaß - Eine Untersuchung am europäischen Aktienmarkt	2000
20	Wolf, Birgit Die Eigenmittelkonzeption des § 10 KWG	2000
21	Heidorn, Thomas Entscheidungsorientierte Mindestmargenkalkulation	2000
22	Böger, Andreas; Heidorn, Thomas; Philipp Graf Waldstein Hybrides Kernkapital für Kreditinstitute	2000
23	Heidorn, Thomas / Schmidt Peter / Seiler Stefan Neue Möglichkeiten durch die Namensaktie	2000
24	Moormann, Jürgen; Frank, Axel Grenzen des Outsourcing: Eine Exploration am Beispiel von Direktbanken	2000
25	Löchel, Horst Die ökonomischen Dimensionen der ,New Economy'	2000
26	Cremers, Heinz Konvergenz der binomialen Optionspreismodelle gegen das Modell von Black/Scholes/Merton	2000
27	Heidorn, Thomas / Klein, Hans-Dieter / Siebrecht, Frank Economic Value Added zur Prognose der Performance europäischer Aktien	2000
28	Löchel, Horst / Eberle, Günter Georg Die Auswirkungen des Übergangs zum Kapitaldeckungsverfahren in der Rentenversicherung auf die Kapitalmärkte	2001

29	Biswas, Rita / Löchel, Horst Recent Trends in U.S. and German Banking: Convergence or Divergence?	2001
30	Heidorn, Thomas / Jaster, Oliver / Willeitner, Ulrich Event Risk Covenants	2001
31	Roßbach, Peter Behavioral Finance - Eine Alternative zur vorherrschenden Kapitalmarkttheorie?	2001
32	Strohhecker, Jürgen / Sokolovsky, Zbynek Fit für den Euro, Simulationsbasierte Euro-Maßnahmenplanung für Dresdner-Bank-Geschäftsstellen	2001
33	Frank Stehling / Jürgen Moormann Strategic Positioning of E-Commerce Business Models in the Portfolio of Corporate Banking	2001
34	Norbert Seeger International Accounting Standards (IAS)	2001
35	Thomas Heidorn / Sven Weier Einführung in die fundamentale Aktienanalyse	2001
36	Thomas Heidorn Bewertung von Kreditprodukten und Credit Default Swaps	2001
37	Jürgen Moormann Terminologie und Glossar der Bankinformatik	2002
38	Henner Böttcher / Prof. Dr. Norbert Seeger Bilanzierung von Finanzderivaten nach HGB, EstG, IAS und US-GAAP	2003
39	Thomas Heidorn / Jens Kantwill Eine empirische Analyse der Spreadunterschiede von Festsatzanleihen zu Floatern im Euroraum und deren Zusammenhang zum Preis eines Credit Default Swaps	2002
40	Daniel Balthasar / Prof. Dr. Heinz Cremers / Michael Schmidt Portfoliooptimierung mit Hedge Fonds unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Risikokomponente	2002
41	Ludger Overbeck / Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Schmidt Modeling Default Dependence with Threshold Models	2003

Printmedium: €25,-- zzgl. €2,50 Versandkosten Download im Internet unter: http://www.hfb.de/forschung/veroeffen.html

Bestelladresse/Kontakt:

Bettina Tischel, Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft, Sonnemannstraße 9-11, 60314 Frankfurt/M. Tel.: 069/154008-731, Fax: 069/154008-728 eMail: tischel@hfb.de, internet: www.hfb.de

Weitere Informationen über die Hochschule für Bankwirtschaft erhalten Sie im Internet unter *www.hfb.de*